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B. The Defendants
Defendant No.1
Fire Department of the City of New York
9 Metro Tech Center
Brooklyn, NY 11201
Fire Commissioner, Daniel Nigro
Defendant No. 2
The City of New York
Law Department
100 Church Street
New York, NY 10007
INTRODUCTION
1) Plaintiff, Daniel P. O’'Donoghue, proceeding Pro Se brings this
action against the Fire Department of New York (hereinafter FDNY), and
the City of New York for damages and other relief relating to their
continuing discrimination in failing to promote and/or hire Plaintiff to the
position of Firefighter.
BASIS FOR JURISDICTION
2) Venue is proper in this District pursuant to, 28 USC § 1391 (b) (1).
3) This Court has jurisdiction over Plaintiff's age/employment

discrimination claims under 29 US Code Chapter 14 § 621 to 631 (The Age

and Discrimination in Employment Act [ADEA] ); Article 1, Section 8 clause
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3, the Commerce Clause of the U. S. Constitution; the 14" Amendment of
the Constitution which guarantees Equal Protection; 28 USC 1331, the New
York City and New York State Human Rights Laws; Section 54 of the New
York Civil Service Law; and the Administrative Code § 15-103; 42 USC
1983.

4) On information and belief, jurisdiction under the ADEA is pursuant
to 29 US Code § 623 subsection ( j) which authorizes the discriminate by
age in the hiring of firefighters but only under a bona fide employment
discrimination plan.

5) Plaintiff was an applicant for the position of firefighter who has
been unfairly discriminated against because of his age and such
discrimination was not pursuant to a bona fide plan as authorized by the
ADEA in section 623 subsection (j) of the act.

6) On information and belief, the Court has jurisdiction of the Plaintiff's
age discrimination claim under the Commerce Clause of the Constitution.

7) The ADEA section 621 defines unlawful age discrimination in
employment as a burden to commerce and the free flow of goods in
commerce.

8) The Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 42 USC 1983 . The
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defendants acted under the color of state and local statutes (enumerated
above) to unlawfully discriminate against the Plaintiff violating the plaintif's
rights under the 14™ Amendment and the Commerce Clause of the U. S.
Constitution, the right not be discriminated against because of his age, and
other rights enumerated under the U.S. Constitution and the ADEA.
PROCEDURAL REQUIREMENTS

9) Plaintiff alleges on or about April of 2018, he filed a complaint with
the United States Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC),
Complaint No.: 16G-2018-02962.

10) Plaintiff alleges on or about February 20, 2019, he received a
Notice of Right to Sue from the EEOC.

11) Plaintiff filed this suit within the applicable statue of limitations
period.
PLAINTIFF

12) Plaintiff DANIEL P. O'DONOGHUE is a citizen of the United
States of America, over twenty-one years of age, resident of Queens
County and former applicant for the position of Firefighter, Fire Department
City of New York.

DEFENDANTS
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13) The defendant CITY OF NEW YORK is a domestic municipal
corporation and existing by virtue of the laws of the State of New York.

14) The defendant, THE FIRE DEPARTMENT OF THE CITY OF
NEW YORK, is a department of the defendant, CITY OF NEW YORK.
Defendant DANIEL NIGRO is the Commissioner of the FDNY.

FACTS

15) There are two ways to apply for the position of firefighter. They
are as follows: by taking an open competitive exam open to the public; or
by taking a “promotional” exam offered to the Fire Department’s
Emergency Medical Technicians.

16) The Plaintiff has applied for the position of firefighter by taking
both the open competitive exam and the “promotional” exam.

17) A maximum age to apply for a firefighter exam has been set at 28
years of age by the defendants.

18) The defendants have allowed exceptions to the upper age limit
for those with prior military service. In these cases the maximum age can
be as high as 35 years of age.

19) Because of racial discrimination in prior exams, further maximum

age exceptions were allowed for those who were discriminated against in



'Case 1:19-cv-026~WFK-LB Document 1 Filed 05/03/19*age 6 of 21 PagelD #: 6

the 1999 and 2002 exams and who applied for the open competitive exam
offered in 2012.

20) Approximately 293 spots were reserved on a priority basis for
black and Latino candidates who weren't hired after taking the 1999 and
2002 tests. These spots allocated from those taking the open competitive
exam of 2012.

21) As a result, candidates with lower passing grades on the 2012
exam were chosen before those with higher scores.

22) As a result, fewer applicants who took the 2012 exam who were
age qualified and who had higher scores were not considered for the
position of firefighter.

23) The selection of firefighters from the 2012 exam was not strictly
based on the ability of the candidates.

24) The plaintiff is 31 years old who is presently employed as an
FDNY Emergency Medical Technician (EMT).

25) Over the past years, critical to the plaintiff's age, the only valid
open competitive exam offered by the FDNY was the above mentioned
exam given in 2012.

26) In 2012, at the age of 25, the plaintiff took the open competitive
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exam mentioned above and received a passing score of 98.

27) In 2013, the plaintiff joined the ranks of the NYFD as an
Emergency Medical Technician.

28) Since 2013, the only “promotional” exam for the position of
Firefighter was offered to EMTs in 2016.

29) In August, 2016, at his first and only opportunity, the plaintiff
applied and eventually took the “promotional” exam to the position of
Firefighter and received a passing score.

30) EMTs, similar to Firefighters, engage in the physically demanding
tasks of rescuing victims under dangerous circumstances.

31) As an EMT, the Plaintiff has been trained in the operation of
emergency ambulances and has been trained in the operation other
emergency vehicles by taking an Emergency Vehicle Operators Course.

32) Firefighters along with EMTs are the first responders to critical
emergency situations.

33) As an EMT, the Plaintiff has been certified as a first responder
with defibrillation (CFR-D), a necessary requirement for a Firefighter in the
FDNY.

34) As an EMT, the Plaintiff has been trained in the use and
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response to the emergency communication systems.

35) As a part of his application for “promotion” to firefighter, the
Plaintiff successfully completed the rigorous Candidate Physical Ability Test
required of all firefighter recruits.

36) The Plaintiff has completed a Comprehensive Personnel
Document (CPD) which evaluated his prior employment history, background
screening of any arrest and/or conviction records, medical, physical
psychological and exams to assess his suitability for the appointment to the
position of Firefighter, Fire Department City of New York. The Plaintiff was
found suitable by the Personnel Review Board of the FDNY.

37) In 2017, the Plaintiff was eventually denied “promotion” to

Firefighter grade by the FDNY because he was over the age of 28 years at
the beginning date (8/3/2016) of the application period (Plaintiff was 3
months over the maximum age).
16) As a result of the Defendant’s determination, the Plaintiff filed a
complaint of failure to promote due to age discrimination with the Equal
Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC).

38) On February 20, 2019, the EEOC rejected the Plaintiff's age

discrimination claim by adopting the findings of the fair employment



*Case 1:19-cv-02618~\VFK-LB Document 1 Filed 05/03/19+=Rage 9 of 21 PagelD #: 9

practices agency that investigated the charge. The Plaintiff's Right To Sue
letter is attached as exhibit A.

39) The EEOC determined that the Plaintiff's age discrimination claim
should be dismissed because it found that an age restriction of 28 is a
reasonable minimum qualification for public safety positions.

40) On or about 2017, the FDNY selected candidates who took the
2012 open competitive exam for the last class to be filled before the
expiration of the exam.

41) Regardless of scores, priority for selection was given to those who
were deemed victims of racism on prior exams.

42) After the priority selection, the selection process reached those
with the same score on the exam as the Plaintiff.

43) At this point, the selection was based on a lottery system
involving the last five digits of the applicant’s Social Security Number.

44) As a result, the Plaintiff as well as approximately 50 others with
the same score were not selected for the class.

45) On information and belief, a great many of the spots filled in this
class were over the maximum age of 28 when they applied for the position

of Firefighter.
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46) On information and belief, a great many of the spots filled in this
class received lower scores on the exam than the Plaintiff.

47) The FDNY made no attempt to accommodate the plaintiff and
those eligible candidates who were denied entry into the class only because
of the arbitrary lottery selection.

48) Over the past few years, members of the City Counsel have
proposed legislation to increase the maximum age for NYFD Firefighter
calling the present upper age limit of 28 archaic and discriminatory.

49) Nationwide, the FDNY has one of the most restrictive upper age
limit. Most cities do not have an upper age restriction for those who wish to
become firefighters. Those that do have an average age limit of 35.

50) The FDNY has consistently opposed raising the upper age limit.

51) One reason given for the FDNY’s outrageous and discriminatory
position is their fear of losing critical and highly trained Emergency Service
personnel.

52) On information and belief, according to the ADEA, the existence
of arbitrary age discrimination in employment must be forbidden because it
burdens commerce and the free flow of goods in commerce.

53) On information and belief, in cases where employers, such as fire

10
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departments, are permitted to discriminate, employers must show that the
age discrimination is reasonably necessary and essential to the job.

54) On information and belief, where such discrimination is permitted,
there must be a factual basis to believe that substantially all persons over
the age established would be unable to perform safely or efficiently on the
job.

55) On information and belief, according to the ADEA, States and
Municipalities may discriminate by age in the hiring of Firefighters but only if
the selection of a maximum age limit is pursuant to qualified bona fide hiring
plan that is not a subterfuge to evade the disqualification of workers on the
basis of their age.

56) On information and belief, the defendants have not shown that
their age discrimination is pursuant to a qualified bona fide hiring plan that
is not a subterfuge for blatant discrimination based on age.

57) On information and belief, the defendants’ plan to limit the
maximum age to 28 for some and 35 for others is a subterfuge established
to avoid the employment of older workers not based on their ability or for
any legitimate non discriminatory reason.

58) On information and belief, the statutory scheme promulgated by

11
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the FDNY and the City of New York is irrational because of the exceptions
to the age requirement imposed only on the Plaintiff and others who have
not been in the military.

59) The defendant intentionally discriminated against the Plaintiff and
those in his age group by failing to provide a reasonable number of
acceptable entry exams during the time period when the plaintiff was age
eligible.

60) Based on the FDNY'’s restrictive policy, the Plaintiff was eligible
for only one exam. Even after taking that exam and receiving a score
worthy of acceptance, the defendant was not given the opportunity of
entering the academy.

61) Moreover, the FDNY’s unfair employment practices, made it
nearly impossible to attract and/or offer opportunities to the Plaintiff and
others in his age group.

62) In so doing, the defendants have acted with malice and/or

reckless disregard for the rights of the Plaintiff.

12
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CAUSES OF ACTION
Count One
Age Discrimination
Violation of Civil Service Law § 54,
New York Human Rights Law, 42 U.S.C. § 1983

63) Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference each of the allegations
in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully rewritten herein.

64) Defendants discriminated against Plaintiff Daniel O'Donoghue on
the basis of his age by failing to promote him from the position of
Emergency Medical Technician to the position of Firefighter after he
received a passing grade on the exam and passing the Candidate Physical
Ability Test.

65) The exam taken by the Plaintiff as an EMT was listed as a
“promotional” exam.

66) On information and belief, by New York State law, an upper age
limitation can only apply to those taking open competitive exams and not to
those taking “promotional” exams.

67) On information and belief, Civil Service Law § 54 prohibits
disqualification from participation in a promotional civil service exam on the
basis of age.

68) Under color of law, the defendants improperly relied on an age

13
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restriction by equating the exam as being akin to an entry level exam.

69) The training and responsibilities of an EMT are directly related to
the position of firefighter. Thus, it is logical that an EMT applicant may be
promoted to the rank of Firefighter.

70) Under color of law the defendants acted in a manner to deprive
the Plaintiff's Constitutional rights of equal protection under the law and/or
to be free from age discrimination, and/or, in so acting, the defendants also
violated the commerce clause of the U. S. Constitution.

Count Two 2
Age discrimination in Employment in
Violation of ADEA; the Civil Service Law ;
New York Human Rights Laws, 42 U.S.C. § 1983

71) Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference each of the allegations
in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully rewritten herein.

72) Defendants discriminated against Plaintiff Daniel O’'Donoghue on
the basis of his age by instituting an unlawful and unrealistic age
qualification plan as the basis for hiring firefighters.

73) On information and belief, under the N. Y. Civil Service Law a
maximum age limit is allowed for open competitive examination for positions

where it is determined that such age requirements would be a reasonable

14
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minimum qualification for such position.

74) On information and belief, the ADEA permits a local municipal
corporations such as New York City to discriminate by age in hiring for the
position of firefighter. However, under the act, the limit set must be
pursuant to a bona fide hiring qualification or plan. The plan must not have
been used as a subterfuge to evade discrimination because as age.

75) The defendants have not set forth a plan that would verify that
candidates over the age of 28 would be the only maximum age that would
qualify a person for the position of firefighter.

76) The upper age restriction of 28 years is not a reasonable
minimum qualification for the position of Firefighter.

77) The age restriction of 28 does not insure the candidate's physical
fitness since all applicants are required the take and pass the same
physical tests.

78) The very fact that allowances are made for certain classifications
of older applicants attest to the fact that the age of 28 years is not a
reasonable minimum qualification and is on its face simply discriminatory.

79) The two separate age limits set by the defendants are a

subterfuge to evade age discrimination practices.

15
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80) By approving different age limits, the commission failed to
establish that the upper age limit of 28 years is a reasonable minimum
qualification for the position of firefighter.

81) The prohibition of employment of persons over the age of 28 at
the time of their application for the position of firefighter is therefore invalid
as being arbitrary, unreasonable and bears no rational relationship to any
legitimate state or city purpose and as such deprives the Plaintiff of equal
protection of the laws: and/or:

82) The prohibition of employment of persons over the age of 28 at
the time of their application for the position of firefighter is invalid as being
arbitrary, unreasonable and bears no rational relationship to any legitimate
state or city purpose and as such violates the Commerce Clause of the
United States Constitution, and/or:

83) The defendants, under color of law, discriminated against the
Plaintiff because the highly restrictive and archaic maximum age limit of 28
years is not rationally related to the needs of the Fire Department.

84) The FDNY has not demonstrated or offered a qualifying plan to
demonstrate how some who passed their 28" birthday are less able to

perform in the position of Firefighter when compared to those who are 35

16
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years of age with military service.

85) The reliance on two separate upper age limits allowed by the
defendants are not pursuant to a bona fide qualification or plan (as an
example, the upper age limit for hiring in the New York Police Department is
35 with no exceptions for military service).

Count Three

86) Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference each of the allegations
in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully rewritten herein.

87) Candidates were selected for the position of Firefighter who had
lower scores on the 2012 entrance exam than the Plaintiff.

88) The selection process was not based on merit .

89) The Plaintiff's rights were therefore in violation of the Civil Service
Law, the New York Human Rights Laws, and 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

Relief
Wherefore, the Plaintiff requests that the Court award him:

(a) A retroactive promotion to the grade of Firefighter with all
attendant back pay, benefits and other emoluments of employment.

b) a sum in excess of $200,000 in compensatory damages suffered

because of the discrimination.

17
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c) costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred with this lawsuit with
interest thereon, and

d) other damages and further relief as deemed just.

Certification and Closing

Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 11, by signing below, | certify
to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief that this complaint: (1)
is not being presented for an improper purpose, such as to harass, cause
unnecessary delay, or needlessly increase the cost of litigation; (2) is
supported by existing law or by a nonfrivolous argument for extending,
modifying, or reversing existing law; (3) the factual contentions have
evidentiary support or, if specifically so identified, will likely have evidentiary
support after a reasonable opportunity for further investigation or discovery;
and (4) the complaint otherwise complies with the requirements of Rule 11.

For Parties Without an Attorney

| agree to provide the Clerk’s Office with any changes to my address
where case-related papers may be served. | understand that my failure to
keep a current address on file with the Clerk’s Office may result in the

dismissal of my case.

18
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Date of signing: 5/ = /7

Signature of Plaintiff % M

Printed Name of Plaintiff ﬂan Sl /O 0 Wanoj /}wé

19
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Exhibit A

20
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EEOC Form 161 (11/16) -—-U.S. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY CLMMISSION

DismisSAL AND NOTICE OF RIGHTS

To:  Daniel O'Donoghue From: New York District Office
32-28 202nd Street 33 Whitehall Street ;
Bayside, NY- 11361 5th Floor

New York, NY 10004

l:l On behalf of person(s) aggrieved whose identity is
CONFIDENTIAL (29 CFR §1601.7(a))
EEOC Charge No. EEOC Representative - Telephone N?‘
Holly M. Shabazz, . '
16G-2018-02962 State & Local Program Manager (212) 336-3643 -
-~

THE EEOC IS CLOSING ITS FILE ON THIS CHARGE FOR THE FOLLOWING REASON:
The facts alleged in the charge fail to state a claim under any of the statutes enforced by the EEOC.

Your allegations did not involve a disability as defined by the Americans With Disabilities Act.
The Respondent employs less than the required number of employees or is not otherwise covered by the statutes.

Your charge was not timely filed with EEOC; in other words, you waited too long after the date(s) of the alleged
discrimination to file your charge

The EEOC issues the following determination: Based upon its investigation, the EEOC is unable to conclude that the
information obtained establishes violations of the statutes. This does not certify that the respondent is in compliance with
the statutes. No finding is made as to any other issues that might be construed as having been raised by this charge.

The EEOC has adopted the findings of the state or local fair employment practices agency that investigated this charge.

Other (briefly state)

[] X DDDDD

- NOTICE OF SUIT RIGHTS -

(See the additional information attached to this form.)

Title VI, the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act, or the Age
Discrimination in Employment Act: This will be the only notice of dismissal and of your right to sue that we will send you.
You may file a lawsuit against the respondent(s) under federal law based on this charge in federal or state court. Your
lawsuit- must be filed WITHIN 90 DAYS of your receipt of this notice; or your right to sue based.on this charge will be
lost. (The time limit for filing suit based on a claim under state law may be different.)

Equal Pay Act (EPA): EPA suits must be filed in federal or state court within 2 years (3 years for willful violatiorts) of the
alleged EPA underpayment. This means that backpay due for any violations that occurred more than 2 years (3 years)
before you file suit may not be collectible. K

On behalf of the Commission

M/\/ ,/.ﬁ/'—;/ " February 20, 2019

Enclosures(s) Kevin J. rry’ (Date Mailed)
District Director '

cC:

Attn: Director of Human Resources

CITY OF NEW YORK, FIRE DEPARTMENT
Legal Affairs

9 Metrotech Center, Room 4W-11
Brooklyn, NY 11201
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CERTIFICATION OF ARBIT ION ELIGIBILITY

Local Arbitration Rule 83.10 provides that with certain exceptions, actions seeking mongy-ffamages only in an amount not in excess of $150,000,
exclusive of interest and costs, are eligible for compulsory arbitration. The amount g&damages is presumed to be below the threshold amount unless a
certification to the contrary is filed.

Case is Eligible for Arbitration | |

I , do hereby certify that the above captioned civil action is ineligible for

c’ompulsory arbitration for the following reason(s):

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT - FEDERAL RULES CIVIL PROCEDURE 7.1

Identify any parent corporation and any publicly held corporation that owns 10% or more or its stocks:

RELATED CASE STATEMENT (Section Vill on the Front of this Form)

Please list all cases that are arguably related pursuant to Division of Business Rule 50.3.1 in Section VIil on the front of this form. Rule 50.3.1 (a) provides that *A civil case is “related”
to another civil case for purposes of this guideline when, because of the similarity of facts and legal issues or because the cases arise from the same transactions or events, a
substantial saving of judicial resources is likely to result from assigning both cases to the same judge and magistrate judge.” Rule 50.3.1 (b) provides that * A civil case shall not be
deemed “related” to another civil case merely because the civil case: (A) involves identical legal issues, or (B) involves the same parties.” Rule 50.3.1 (c) further provides that
“Presumptively, and subject to the power of a judge to determine otherwise pursuant to paragraph (d), civil cases shall not be deemed to be "related” unless both cases are still
pending before the court.”

NY-E DIVISION OF BUSINESS RULE 50.1(d)(2)

1.) Is the civil action being filed in the @ern District removed from a New York State Court located in Nassau or Suffolk

County? - O Yes No

2) If you answered “no” above:
a) Did the events or omissions givipgvise to the claim or claims, or a substantial part thereof, occur in Nassau or Suffolk
County? D Yes @ No :

b) Did the events missions giving rise to the claim or claims, or a substantial part thereof, occur in the Eastern
District? @ Yes No

c) If this is a Fair Debt Collection Practice Act case, specify the County in which the offending communication was
received: .

If your answer to question 2 (b) is “No,” does the defendant (or a majority of the defendants, if there is more than one) reside in Nassau or
Suffolk County, or, inﬂ interpleader aﬂon, dIQIes the claimant (or a majority of the claimants, if there is more than one) reside in Nassau or

Suffolk County?, €s 0
(Note: A corporation shall be considered a resident of the County in which it has the most significant contacts).

BAR ADMISSION

| am currently admitted in the Eastern District of New York and currently a member in good standing of the bar of this court.
D Yes . D No

Are you currently the subject of any disciplinary action (s) in this or any ot

€ or federal court?

D Yes (If yes, please

| certify the accuracy of all information provided above.

Signature:

Last Modified: 11/27/2017



